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FOREWOR

I lived for a decade in Gove, and in my spare time spent many interesting
hours wandering through the bush discovering remains of the old RRAF
base installations. These moving reminders of a violent time in our
country's history led me to undertake research into the history of the
RAAF involvement in the Gove area during WW 2.

Radar was one of the war winning inventions about which very little has
been written, and RAAF Radar is no exception. The official RAAF
histories and the Form 50 Operations Record Logs give scant information
about the radar operations for latter-day historians. Consequently,
very little is known about the men who operated the vital early warning
radar stations arcund the North Australian coast. My knowledge of

321 Radar was therefore very limited at first.

During the course of my enguiries, I heard about the Radar Groups

and Morrie Fenton, and started corresponding. The records held by
Morrie, and his contacts among the radar veterans provided the key for
me to open up the mystery surrounding the establishment of 321 Radar
at Yirrkala (Gove). Subsequently, I also had the pleasure of meeting
same veterans personally when they returned to Gove for nostalgic
visits.

I also enjoyed reading 'Radar Yarns' and other radar publications over
the years. As well as 321 Radar, I was also able to obtain information
on 312 at Wessel Is., 308 at Milingimbi, and 30% at North Goulburn

Is., which completed the picture of Radar in Fast Arnhem Land., Surely
one of the most remote groups of radar installations anywhere!

Unfortunately, nothing remains of the old 321 Radar site. The area was
levelled and cleared for the Yirrkala School in the early 70's. During
1995 - "Australia Remembers' Year - I was able to have erected at
Yirrkala township an historic sign commemorating the work of 321 Radar
in WW 2. This sign overlooks the Arafura Sea, down from the hill on
which the radar array was cperated, and faces the direction fram which
an eneny attack would have most likely come. Fortunately, armed raids
never eventuated, though Japanese high flying reconnaissance aircraft
overflew the Gove base on several occasions. They undoubtedly would
have done something had they the resources at that stage of the war

to do so.

Chronicles such as Morrie Fenton's narrative of 321 Radar are an import—
ant record of the lonely, repetitive job that operating a radar station
was. These men did not receive from the media the publicity that

the more glamorous flying squadrons received, which makes this record
all the more valuable.

Cottesloe, W.A. Septenber 1997. Peter Callaghan.
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INTRODUCTION.

321 Radat was finst formed at Mascol in Aprdf 1943, and was set up

at Yirnkala NWA in Augusl of that year. VYintkafa is at the eastern
end of the Aboniginaf trnibal Lands hnown as Axnhem Land - the histony
of which dates back before the 16th. cenfuny when Macassans, Mafaydns
and even Chinese perdiodically visited the coastline seeking trepang,
pearts and shank and othen treasures of the seas.

But the recorded historny of the area commerced with the Dutch
explorens of the nonthean coastline, and in 1423 two Dufch ships
saifed inte the GuEf of Carpentarnia. One of these - the ARNHEM, -
commanded by Wilfem van Cofster, tunned westwand afier sdighfing the
bottom of the gulf, then salfed north to foffow the coastline.

The nonth-east point of fand was named Cape Arnkem and the fand
tock the same name....Arnhem Land....affer which the ship tuined
weat again along the coastline.

The Gove Peninsufa fook {ts name duning Worfd Wan 2, agler Pifol
0fficen William Gove, o Hudson bomber navigator and son of Wing
Commander Robent Gove, was kitfed on 20th. Apaif 1943 aftfen fake-

off from Milingimbi, which is about haff way afong the Atnhem Land
coastline., Aftenwands, a new war-time airstrip af the eastenn end

of Axnhem Land was named Gove Ainstnip - and subsequently the peninsula
of fand on which the airstrip was Located.

Yinnkala was the name given to the Methodist Mission established

near Cape Axnhem about the year 1935 on soon afferwernds - Yirakala
meaning 'running stream' - and in gact a sineam, on creek rathexr,

was near to the Mission site.

321 Radar has at various times been descrdibed as having aff three
as its Loecation - Cape Armhem - Gove - and Yinrkafa - but the fasi
£5 the moat cornect, for the sfation was sel up next Lo the Mission.
371 was the mest eastenfy radar station in Neath West Axrea during
Worfd Wan ?, and was the first RAAF Unit on Gove Pendnsufa.




321 RADAR, YIRRKALA. From the AS0 Diary from Formation to 'On Air,'

321 RDF station was one of several radar units which first formed at Mascot,
Sydney, where stores and gear were collected, packed and prepared ready

for transport. This was in april 1943, but the first Diary notes are made
only in June, Here also the men of the various musterings reported in

to be brought on strength. Pilot Officer D. Qakes was the first appointed
Commanding Officer,

On 2nd. June, a unit movement order was received to proceed to MWA, and eight
tons of equipment and the technical gear were moved to Alexandria rail

yards, while the remainder of the equipwent left by convoy for Terowie, S.A.
321's C.0. and 40 men left Sydney by rail on 6th. June, travelling via Mel-
bourne and Adelaide to arrive at the famous - or infamous - Terowie staging
camp on Bth. June. They moved quickly on again by narrow gauge, and Alice
Springs was reached on 11th. June. from where they moved on the next day by
road convoy for Larrimah. At Elliott, AC1 Watts received treatment at

the RAP, and at Larrimah, AC1 white was admitted to the camp hospital.

On 17th. June, 321 RDF arrived at 44 RDF Wing, Coomalie, near Mdelaide
River, and F/O. D.Grahame was appointed to take over as Commanding Officer,
but P/O Oakes stayed with the unit as Tech. Officer and 2nd.I/C. LAC Crawley
became the third casualty of the trip when he was admitted to 1 MRS at
Darwin on 28th. June....and so ended the first eventful month for 321 RS.

The opening days of July saw the return of LAC Crawley to the unit, and

F/O Grahame attended 4RSU for a two week course, no doubt leaving P/O Qakes
in charge of the unit before the C.O. returned to 321 at Wing on 18th.

July. Three days later, the unit's gear was again packed and transported

to Barwin, and orders were received to proceed by air to 59 OBU at Milingimbi,
which jis about half way along the coast of Arnhem Land. Six men from 3 MWS
were now attached to the unit, also four guards, a camoufleur and two men
from the OBU Marine Section, making a total complement of 35 men on strength
while the station was being set up and established.

At Milingimbi sea transport for the party was prepared, and the unit embarked
ready to leave. At sea, course was set for Yirrkala, near Cape Arnhem, which
had been selected as the site for the station, with the transport ship

towing a barge with an experienced crew to facilitate the landing operations.
There was some excitement in the early hours of the 26th., when the hawser

line to the barge parted, and it was an hour before the tow was picked

up again.

Yirrkala was reached the next day, and here the unit received a somewhat

cool reception from the Missioner, Mr. Rupert Kentish who had received no
advice that he was to have a service unit as a close neighbour for his Mission.

Temporary quarters were established - some of the gear was unloaded and
moved to the intended camp site. But although the 3 MWS men were ready,
willing and able to lay out and construct the camp buildings, it was suddenly
realised that no plans had been supplied! Nevertheless, work started,
and the first improvement for the station was the construction of a camp
oven....and before long the men enjoyed fresh bread for the first time
at 321.

Next on the list came the slit trenches; but meanwhile several cases of
diarrhea and high temperatures occurred among the men....clear evidence
of a suspect water supply....and an order was issued that all drinking
water had to be boiled - a wise precaution,...but nothing could control
the millions of bush flies that clearly enjoyed their arrival.

Meanwhile, the sea transport was still anchored off-shore waiting for the
heavy surf to subside; and so the camp store was built ready to receive
the supplies which finally began coming ashore by barge on Bth. August.
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"Unloading proceeded under tremendous difficulties. Barge and ship's life-
boats stoed well off-shore, and the unit perscnnel had to wade cut until

up to their necks in water. Coral onh the bottom cut the men's feet to
pleces and the knowledge that sharks and crocodiles were about did nothing
to ease the situation. Hand cart unloaded late today - too late to be

of any assistance in unloading. Mishandling or tampering with stores resulted
in a very large percentage of cases and packages being smashed befare they
arrived off-shore. Many cases of rations, particularly tinned cebbage,
were in a stinking condition and had to be buried at low tide. Transport
and escort extremely anxiouns to get away, and all petrol and oil drums
were dumped in the sea about 150 yards off-shore, resulting in these being
scattered over a mile of beach. Still no works officer or site plan.
Unloading completed 1500 hours 10th. August. Approximately 300 tons of
material on beach." (Diary entry.}

There was no motor transport at this time....indeed there were no roads

or tracks even..... but. the technical gear was moved to its intended site

on a trailer dragged by some 20 odd men, many of whom reported with lacerated
and infected legs and feet.

There were two trailer breakdowns — but some progress was reported when

a W/T Administration watch was established. Water became another problem.
The pump stupplied proved incapable of the job of lifting the water to the
required height, so a new site was selected for the kitchen and Mess so
that a water supply could be readily available.

By the 18th., the beach had been cleared, and 321 RDF was operaticnal at
0900 hours on 20th. August.

On 23rd., the kitchen was built and finished with water laid on and the
refrigerator working. And now the barge finally was able to leave.

In ancther day or so the showers were working...and so after a hectic and
arduous month, the station 'stood down' with its complement now at 27 men.

September 1243,

A DHB4 appeared over the station and dropped two sealed bags containing
Security and Code Publications - also a bag of mail for the 3IMWS detachment
still with the upit,

The Mess building with the mens' and sergeants' sections, and the canteen,
were now completely finished with a compacted floor and fly proofing, and
these were immediately brought into use. A vegetable garden was reported
to be doing well with lettuces, chinese cabbages, tomatpes, water and rock
melons, radishes and green peas - cbviously there was a garden expert among
the personnel.

On 5th. September, the first motor transport fram Melville Bay was able

to get through to the unit - a Jeep - and on its return trip took a safe
hand bag and cutward mail. The following day the C.0. was indisposed
with a poisoned arm. This disability continued for several days. Meanwhile,
the 3MWS men conpleted their work and finished off with a few odd jobs

and cleaning up. The engine shed was now complete with blast proofing

and cement floor, and so the generator units and motors were moved in and
installed.

The 2Bth. was a 'big day' on 321 - the first inward mail arrived, and a
noticeable improvement in morale and tempers was immediately apparent.

The detachment of men from 3MWS departed now that their schedule of work
was complete, leaving 49 men on the unit - 2 officers, 25 men on strength
and 22 security guards who had evidently arrived during the month.

321 RDF was now fully operational and completely independent.
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321 Radar...October '43 to September '45.

This month proved quieter - evidently the station was settling into its
routine operating pattern. Calibration flights were arranged, and the
highlight was the arrival of the station's second inward mail. A phone

line was laid fram the newly arrived S8MWS at the site of the new airstrip to
the radar station which was now the recognized name for all RDF stations...but
the new phone line meant little at the time as 327 had no phone hand set

to complete the comnectiont

The 14th. proved a another Red Letter Day for 321 - 2 hindquarters of beef
were received from the Mission Station in return for slanghtering the animal.
Needless to say, the fresh meat was greatly appreciated. And on 19th. an
area behind the Mission was cleared and ploughed to prepare and roughly

level the ground for a sports area. This work was followed by preparatory work
on a station rifle range,

On 20th, the airstrip was used for the first time..and the ACC for the

MW Area, Air Vice Marshal Cole visited the unmit.

Towards the end of the month the water pumps on the Ford 10's were modified
as same trouble had been experienced with the engines, evidently in the
cooling system, and assistance in this work was given by the fitters from
8MWS. Meanwhile, the Commanding Officer who had been admitted to Sick
Quarters was evacuated by air on 26th. for admission to 1 MRS at Darwin.

November 1943,

Early in November, the station Fitter/DMT, Corporal Collins became seriously
ill and a fitter was attached 'on loan' from 8MWS to help out. And the
station water supply became a problem when king tides silted up the creek,
and a channel had to be cut to flush out the silt and to drain out the
water,

The Commanding Officer, F/Lt. Grahame, who had been with the station since
its formation, was able to return to his unit in company with F/Lt. G.B.Frost
who was to 'take over' 321 as C.0. This became effective on the 14th.
which was also distinguished by a programwe of educational short films
being presented at the station.

On the 16th. two parades were called so that the new C.0. could meet every
man on the unit...this was followed by a general inspection of the camp.

On the 17th. the unit Ford motor transport was returned to 8MWS as the
vehicle had proved useless on the hills, and transport assistance was
pramised by 8MWS until a replacement transport unit arrived. Meanwhile,
the new Officers' Mess was declared open, and with the assistance of native
helpers, the station wood heap was considerably enlarged, tent floors were
built up, and the new Orderly Room and C.C.'s quarters were completed. Evident=
ly the 'old bark hut' previously filling this important role now became
the station guard post.

Over the last few days of November, several trees were felled, probably

to improve the Doover performance; and several men were posted out.

Some operational performance notes appear for this month; the best range
was 174 miles, and the station was 'off air' for 11 hours.

December 1943.

This proved to be quite a busy month at 321 - firstly because of a & day
security defence programme for all personnel; also because a survey was
carried out to attempt to overcome the water supply problem, the idea being
to survey a new route for the pipeline to avoid the brackish water near
the creek mouth which was also popular with the natives as a bathing spot.
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The urgency of the work was further emphasized when the creek again silted
up and drinking water had to be carted in to 321 for about a weck. A
stone wall was built up to maintain a deep supply, but despite these efforts
the water remained brackish because of recurring high tides.

Both Protestant and Catholic church services were held to celebrate Christ—
mas, and a Special Christmas Dinner was arranged{for some unexplainable
reason radar cooks always secmed able to excel themselves at this time
of year) after which 170 natives at the neighbouring Mission received a
‘corforts' present fram the C.0. and Welfare. At night there wag a quiz
and concert with launch trips and special meals the following day, also

a sports meeting for the Mission natives, organised by a group of the
airmen, with prizes presented by the C.0. from Welfare supplies.

There were several visiting officers before the month ended, mainly from
8MIWS - then on New Year's Eve another concert and quiz session Was held
in the Airmens® Mess.

During the month the number of security guards was reduced to 15, and six
natives received casual employment on station improvements — the latrines,
the Mess and kitchen, the Orderly Room and some tents having the floors
built up, in addition to which a new emergency store and new guard post
were established. And P/O Cakes was posted and ended his stint at 321,
The best range for the month had been 169 miles - two enemy aircraft plots
were tracked resulting in a successful interception; a BL4 transponder was
also installed.

Indeed a busy month! And an enjoyable one!

January 1944,

With the start of the New Year came notice of 321's replacement motor trans-
port ~ this time a heavy 6x6 to replace the disappointing Ford stakeside. The
‘new' truck was to came fram 8MWS which was still on Gove Peninsula finishing
the new strip and camp for 56 OBU - and doubtless also the facilities at
Melville Bay.

On the 5th., a party of men attended the MWS Sports Meeting, and the Wing
Medical Officer visited the station to check the circumstances of the camp
water supply and the very questionable quality of the water.

Another welcome supply of fresh meat was arranged via the Mission on the

7th. when a heifer was slaughtered, and the station also enjoyed the
formality of a Pay Parade.

During the month a Survey Fix of the station's exact position was arranged;
this was imperative for all radar stations so that accurate details of

plots could be sent to Fighter Sector - and the station security was improved
with attention to its camouflaging and barbed wire entanglements. The camp
tracks and paths were also defined with wire. On the 19th. a pigeon shoot
resulted in enough birds to feed the whole unit, and as an educakional
session, a mock court martial was held on the 20th. — ard on the day following
the emergency store was stocked up with 40 bags of rations.

The replacement station truck arrived on the 23rd., and more hunting and
fishing expeditions were organised late in the month.

The installation of the BL4 transponder was completed on the 27th., so
making identification of plots easier, as well as slightly extending the
range at times...and with the arrival of the heavy new truck, all stores

and fuel stored at the Mission were moved to the camp area.

On January 28th., the Gove airstrip became fully operakional, so that 321's
role could now change from watching over the Works Squadron to watching

the security of the operational squadrons of aircraft which would be based
there.



February 1944.

February cammenced with the newly installed and now operative BL4 being
put to the test - which proved satisfactory - and a Pay Parade was also
arranged. But the 4th, February proved a highlight, for the first real
picture show was held at the OBU, and about half of 321's personnel was
able to attend.

On the 8th. came the bane of all radar stations - a C.0.'s Parade - and
all weapons were inspected by a Defence Officer and Armourer.

56 OBU Gove made arrangements for its second picture show, this time to

be held over two nights so that those on duty could also enjoy it, These
shows were held on the 9th, and 10th., and it must have been that 83 Squadron
had quietly moved into the now operative Gove strip, for the squadron C.O.,
S/L Goon, visited 321, also the OBU's Cypher Officer. Then came a series
of gas lectures involving the checking and testing of all gas masks....and
the Boomerang fighter aircraft of 83 Squadron flew over the station for
the first time.

Several of the radar men suffered attacks of dysentery about the 15th.,
with at least one man regquiring hospital treatment, and once again it was
decided that the problem originated from the camp water supply still being
purped from the creek.

The 18th. was taken up with a series of practice defence tactics, mainly
concentrated around the Doover area, but the next day undoubtedly proved
more popular with the men for the third picture show was arranged.

Two of 321's personnel became involved in Court Martial proceedings as
Officiating Officer and Counsel (A most unusual radar station involvement)
towards the end of the month, and a station committes was alsc formed to
arrange sports and entertaimments - always an important appointment on
radar units where station activities depended very much on the men themselves.
During the month considerable progress had been made with camp inprovements
and the maintenance of defence positions - and of most importance was the
addition of a new 3000 gallon tank to the existing 1000 gallon system to
improve the station water supply in pressure and quality.

March 1944.

The month started with some very wet weather, but that d4id not stop 5/L

Goon and his cfficers from visiting 321 with the purpose in mind of effecting
an improvement in commnications between his sgquadron and the radar.

On the 4th., an airman from 8¥WS drowned in the river near 321 - all possible
agsistance was given by the unit and the neighbouring Mission.

As a defence precaution, a track leading from the camp past the engine

shed was covered and camouflaged, and a Wirraway and an Anson repeatedly
flew over the camp no doubt to check the effectiveness of the work. Mr.
Kentish the Missioner attended on the 13th. and gave the men an enlightening
talk on the Arnhem Land Aborigine, And as 8MWS was soon to leave the area,
arrangements were made to receive same of their stores and rations; and
resulting from the visit of the officers from 83 Squadron, work was put

in band to improve the phone line between the unit and 83 Sguadron.

On the 22nd, the first camp concert was staged and was deservedly acclaimed
a great success...and the day following saw the start of work on a new
pipeline to bring water from a better source, while at the same time further
camouflage work was carried out.

The AOC ™A and a bevy of his attendant officers visited 321 on the 2%th., ard
instructions were issued to move the station to Mt. Saunders (near Melville
Bay) but evidently wiser counsel was to eventmally prevail for 321 stayed put.
Meanwhile, further attempts were made to improve the unit's phone link.

12
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The maximum range for the month of March had been 175 miles - a very good
effort perhaps due to the recently installed BL4.

April 1244.

Under the supervision of the 8MWS camoufleur, some thinning out of trees
was organised from arcund the Doover - this was usually to improve the
coverage. And 39 Zene Filter Control was set up at the CBU and became
operational early in the month with a landline established between 321

and the new local reporting centre.

A couple of test flights took place on the 6th., the first being with a
couple of 83 Squadron Boomerangs, and in the second test flight G/C Jeffreys,
flying a Spitfire, attempted to approach the base undetected, but he was
picked up at 60 miles and tracked in, his height being correctly estimated
at 15000 feet.

On the 7th., a unit sports meeting was held - and a meeting was also arranged
for the Mission natives, with Mr. and Mrs. Rentish attending.

A possible new site for the Doover was chosen by the C.0. on the 9th.,

and the first breakdown in the new local arrangements cocurred the next

day when the Zone Filter landline failed, bringing the stand-by W/T watch
on lire. And on the 10th. a new road was commenced to link 321 to the
other units on the Gove Peninsula - April was proving a busy and eventful
month.

The very questionable water supply was still causing dysentery problems
when a hygiene inspection was made - and on the 15th., Radar Wing ordered
the Doover to be moved, and work commenced on preparing the new site some
70 yards from the first. The move was completed on the 20th. and meanwhile
work also continued on setting up the new water supply.

A special parade was held on Anzac Day - and advice was received from 8MWS
that the new water pipeline should be ready in 2 days time...which forecast
proved to be correct.

The C.0. and one section of security quards held some Bren gun practice

on the 29th., and at the end of the month the unit strength was 1 officer
and 35 OR's. The best range for the month had been 122 miles,

May 1944.

On May 1st., F/Lt C.F.J.Bogue arrived to take over camand of 321, and

an the evening following, an educational [ilm programme was arranged, after
which Mr. W. Horney, Inspector of Aborigines, gave a short talk on the
Abarigines of the area, their customs and beliefs.

F/Lt Frost and other unit perscmnel departed from Gove on the 3xd., and

the unit truck was returned from BMWS but the steering still proved to

be defective. B&An alert was caused when Mr. Kentish reported an object
resembling a submarine was sighted off shore, but this proved to be a float-
ing oil drum. Work started on the preparation of a new site for the Opera-
tions Room, and on the S5th. a Ford 10 went down with the governor needing
re-bushing.

On the 10th. a Red Alert was sounded - but strangely all of the Gove units
knew except 321. The alert had evidently come from 312 at Wessel, and
 apparently Temperature Inversion caused 321 to miss the plot entirely.

New committees to take charge of the canteen, entertainments and welfare
were elected on the 9th., and the 32] truck again broke down with a holed
radiator and an almost flat battery.

Fresh meat arrived on the 16th. - always a morale booster at a radar station
50 too was the C.0.'s parade on the 17th, followed by rifle drill and a short
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route march. {(a booster for the C.0. that is.}

Yet another educational film evening was presented at the station on the 19th.
and then followed more camouflaging work, some maintenance on the beacon,

and then sufficient rations as a reserve for three months were received

and stored. The new Operations Room was finished and occupied on the 25th.,
but & W/T watch was still maintained as the landline was still unserviceable.
The month ended with the arrival off-shore of the HENRY DODGE, and commence-—
ment of work on a new road from the Mission to the airstrip, also the mending
of the landline to 39 Zone Filter room. But the most popular occasion

was the comforts parcel issue, or perhaps the picture show at the QBU,

The arrival of fresh meat and butter was also high on the popularity list,

June 1944,

June cammenced with the completion of the preliminary grading of the new
road from 323 to the airstrip, then came a message from the Missioner that
he was being attacked by a group of hostile natives. A party of guards

was immediately despatched to attend the emergency, and after several hours
the disturbance was settled and the party of guards withdrew and returned
to the unit.

A Ford 10 gave some trouble on the 7th. and a bracket and a fan pulley were
sent to the MWS camp workshop for welding and repairs; and on the Sth.,

the 16 mm. £ilm "Battle for Britain" was shown. This film seemed to be
doing the rounds of the radar stations.

On the 12th. all light installations in the tent lines were cut off as
instructed by NWA H/Q - then on the 17th. the second Ford motor broke down
with U/J coupling problems. Again the 8MWS unit attended to the necessary
repairs, and the motor was back in service again two days later. Meanwhile,
eleven security guards were posted back to their main unit at Darwin, and
replacements duly arrived.

On the 26th., interference on the IFF signals was traced to the OBU Signals
Unit - and a fire on nearby Bremer Island caused same concern, particularly
at night. Meanwhile by the end of the month the new road was finished...but
more trouble and work was caused when high winds brought about the loss

of phone line communications for up to three weeks.

July 1944.

July 3rd. was undoubtedly a 'special day' on the calendar, for the Tivoli
Concert Party appeared at Gove. There's no mention of the 'Tiv' Show Girls,
but if they were with the party, the 'House Full' sign would hawe been
needed, and the 5.P.'s would have been on the watch behind the stage. But

it was back to the everpresent hard work the next day when the old water
pipeline was taken up and delivered to 8MWS.

Cn the 5th. the unit had a practice shoot at sea markers with .303's and
Tammy Guns — a 90% result was recorded, and the Principal Medical Officer

of NWA, G/C Counsell arrived to inspect the station and camp the next day.
Yet another educaticnal film was shown at the unit on the 7th., and with

the installation of a switchboard in the Orderly Room and new phone lines
hooked up, the 24 hour W/T watch ended.

On July 1ith. a Liberty ship anchored off-shore and B8MWS embarked to finally
leave the peninsula, and a practice shoot with Bren guns resulted in a

70% pass. July 15th. was notable as an LAC guard was charged for not challenging
a Flight Sergeant in the small hours of the morning. 14 days (B was meted
out as punishment {perhaps the F/Sgt was ocut to 'get' that poor LAC) - and

a unit quiz and concert was held that night.

An aerial photograph of the station was organised via 83 Squadron on the 18th.
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{buried now in old records preseumably) and on the 19th. phone lines were
down again and the W/T watch was again back in operation until the line

was repaired.

The Catalinas arrived at Melville Bay on the 24th., and then the embargo

on tent lighting was lifted, and the lights of 321 came on again. But

a serious health problem was averted when a dead rat was discovered in

the smaller water tank. Both tanks were drained, cleaned and chlorinated,
and then refilled. Further trouble then developed due to the small tank
having a corroded joint which restricted pressure. A solution was attempted
by raising the larger tank to increase the water pressure. Then No. 1

Ford 10 brcke down, but the Fitter had the engine stripped down, repaired
and running again within 24 hours.

On the 27th. extensions to the sergeants' and officers' Mess were finished,
while a definite 'plus' for the station was that the garden was again producs.
ing with chinese cabbage, tomatoes, cucumbers and beans being regularly
harvested,

But then the same motor broke down again and new motors awaiting despatch

at Batchelor were requested 'on priority.' BAnd a visit was received from
the OBU SP's conceming a missing refrigerator — surely the radar boys

of 321 were not to blame!

On July 2%th. a small mission lugger anchored off-shore — then sailed the
next day for Groote Island...and on the last day of the month a piano arrived
at 42 Squadron while a party from 83 Squadron visited the radar unit,

The picture show at the OBU had also been considerably improved for a 35 mm.
projector was now installed and operating with much improved results.

321 Radar now had 36 men on stremn

Pugust 1944.

A CSIR officer was an early visitor in August - operating conditiong and
Temperature Inversion probably being his agenda — but of immediate importance
to the station efficiency was the arrival of new Ford 10 engines; and by the
3rd. the Fitter had both units installed and working, afterwards crating the
old motors for return to Wing. Then on the 4th, the Revd. Kolinio Saukuru the
new Missicnary for Yirrkala, arrived to take over from Mr. Kentish. The new
man was to become a firm friend over the next twelve months. The following
day seven visitors from 39 Zone Filter Centre arrived to familiarize them-
selves with the system of tracking planes and passing plots to the Filter Room
and a bushfire which had been burning towards the camp burnt cut and was .
declared safe. Then on the 9th. came a rather unusual event - the inspection
of identification discs and cards. Another strange event on the 12th....five
grenade explosions were heard from the bushfire still burning near the camp,
and a careful search revealed six more which were exploded with rifle fire,
The grenades were thought to be those stolen or which disappeared from the
station ammoury several months before. A strange one indeed.

On the 13th. the Mission lugger anchored in the creek - and a talk was

given on the pres and cons of the coming Pederal Referendum. A second party
from the Filter Centre arrived on a similar familiarisation visit and then

on the 16th. a 'welcome' to 42 Sguadron and 13 Scuadron was arranged - 13
Squadron now flying Venturas from the Gove airstrip, Mr. and Mrs. Kentish left
as pasgsengers on the lugger on the 17th. - and a raft was ferried to the
local beach by the natives.

44 Radar Wing ceased to function this month, and 39 Zone Filter Centre moved
to Gove from Milingimbi, with 321 now reporting to the local Filter Centre.
Then on the 24th. P/O Banks replaced F/Lt Bogue as €.0. of 321 Radar, follow-
ed by yet ancther visit by the OBU 5P's on the 25th....with 321 in the clear..
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and 5/Ldr Grout Smith, the Area Radar Officer, inspected the unit. On

Sunday the 27th. the Revd. Kolinio conducted a church service, ...and an
unidentified plot which caused scme concern proved to be a DH 84.

A charge was laid against a W/T operator for not cbeying orders, and he

was subsequently fined 7 days pay....this was on the 27th. Then once

again the unit motor transport broke down, this time completely, and it

was towed to the OBU transport section for repairs. The OB arranged for
321's mail and supplies to be delivered by ute while the repairs were attended
to.

At the end of the month, a USA Intelligence Officer, accompanied by the

Area Intelligence Officer, inspected the unit and the neighbouring Mission,
and the Area Radar Officer watched an IFF test with a Catalina flying boat.

A report on the unit transport was received declaring the engine U/S, and
vhile a replacement motor was being obtained, arrangements were made for

a daily run from the OBU, with picture show runs on Monday, Tuesday, Thursday
and Saturday.

A pleasing arrangement now in force was the reqular supply of fresh meat

and butter, and there were now 34 men on the station.

August 1944 to 22nd. January, 1945. The pages for this pericd are missing
from the AS0 Diary.
During this time, F/O G.D.Mills toock over as Commanding Officer.

On Januvary 22nd 1945 39 Zone Filter Centre at Gove was closed, and the
method of reporting changed — all plots were reported by W/T to Air Defence
Headquarters at Darwin and the necessary changes to aerials and equipmgnt
were attended to. On the 24th., the C.0. held a parade and an inspection,
which seem to have become a regular feature at 321, though certainly not

a popular one. A unit giiz evening was led on the 27th., but the month
ctherwise proved quiet. .

The Diary records there were now 28 men on the unit.

February 1945.

A rather official sort of day on the 6th....first came a Pay Parade, then
a C.0.'s Parade followed by an inspection of the camp area. Probably
those on watch at the time were the lucky ones!

On the 10th. a lecture was given on jamming and anti-jamming techniques,
which was followed by a demonstration when an aircraft flying within range
showed the various effects with 'Window,' noise jamming etc. This was
also witnessed by aircrew from 13 and 42 Squadrons.,

On the 12th. the gear developed a bad fault in the valve cooling assembly
and until an exchange or replacement could be arranged, the station went
on a restricted hours schedule. On the day following, the AOC MWA, A/Cdr.
Charlesworth visited - and departed, and despite some offers of assistance
fram the technicians of 13 Squadron, only temporary repairs could be made
to the set.

And ancther C.0.'s Parade on the 27th., when it was also decided that a
Defence Training course would be arranged, with instruction to follew the
weekly parade.

The Diary records that 814 plots were passed for the month.

March 1945.
The first week of March proved quite busy - a Pay Parade, a Hygiene Inspec-

tion, C.0.'s Parade and Inspection, then the first of the new Security
Instructions and Lectures, followed by a church service and commnion. The
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one bright spot in all these arrangements was the issue of camforts and
welfare parcels.

The second week began with more Defence Training and a Malaria Control
lecture - then the well known maintenance team of Sgt Savage and Cpl Mann
arrived to look over and check both radar equipment and the BL4. The Defence
Training session proved to be a long lecture on rifles and light arms -
the maintenance inspection resulted in an urgent signal requesting a new
valve cooling blower - and at the end of this eventful wesk the YMCA man
fram the OBU arrived with cool drinks and refreshments for all who would
join him (probably every man in the camp!).

A solid series of postings and new arrivals then came about, lasting over
several days, at the end of which the popular YM rep. again called for

a cheer-up session, and an issue of 'comforts' to all. And after all these
camp activities a wWelfare Committee meeting was held, and a party arrived
to carry out calibration tests on the equipment.

Sgt, Savage, Cpl. Mann and LAC Taylor departed for ADHQ after campleting
their maintenance visit, and the unit activities concluded for the month
with a Parade and an Inspection, C.0. style; a rifle shoot and a further
lecture on light arms and quns, and a unit Pay Parade.

A Besufort aircraft made the first of a series of calibration flights,

and the month ended thankfully on a lighter note with a games evening with
cash prizes, cigarettes and sweets.

During March 660 plots were passed to ADHQ.

April 1945.

Early in April the No. 1 Ford generator unit broke down and 321 finished

up 'off air' for 13 hours. During this time arrangements were made to
instal a unit from 312 radar Wessel Island which was then at the OBU awaiting
transport back to Darwin. So the calibration flights continued to finish

on the 7th., and with the surprising decision after 321's long service

that the coverage was poor - a new site was desirable - and that the two
best sites were Mt, Saunders {as recommended by the AOC months before}

or Drimmie Head on Melville Bay. The eventual decision was Eor the Drimmie
Head site, as the station could 'lodge' at the 42 Squadron camp, whereas
the Mt. Saunders site presented many difficulties with cbtaining water,

new phone lines etc.” PFurther observation of the sites was called off for
two reasons - there was too much dust - and the calibration party was recalled
to Darwin.

These initial investigations had taken up much of the menth, but on the
19th. a 'Housie' night was organised, and on the 24th. a Welfare Committee
meeting was called to discuss entertainments and outings. The month drew

to a close with a visit from the Principal Medical Officer who inspected
the Mess, the kitchen and the sick quarters.

There had been 1364 plots for the month.

May 1945.

On the 1st. May, twenty men tock part in a Tomry Gun and rifle shoot on

the beach a mile from the camp - there was a bygiene inspection of latrines
and showers, and on the 9th. came the welcome news of Peace in Europe,

marked by both a church service held on the unit, and a Welfare night of
entertainment.

'Black Jack' Walker, who as C.0. of ADHQ and No. 1 Fighter Wing, managed

to visit most of the radar stations in NWA, arrived on 321 on 10th. May,

and socon after his visit the gear 'crashed' and a careful inspection revealed
that the receiver was in a very bad condition. As appeared to be the norm
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at 321, there was a succession of visitors and inspections, the most welcome
visitor without doubt being the YMCA man - but the event of most significance
occurred on the 29th. when F/O While arrived to take over as C.0. of 32%.
1178 plots had been passed to ADHQ for the month of May.

June 1945.

With the takeover of the station by the new C.O., the style of reporting
in the AS0 Diary also changed greatly, and far less of daily happenings

is reported, and more of aircraft plots which appeared unusual for some
reason. On the 2nd., an aircraft en route from Darwin was tracked - it
had no radio and one faulty engine. BAnd two plots with a range of 100
miles were noted, this being a noteworthy range evidently.

Plans for social and sporting activities were made, and a talk on post war
training education was delivered by the Education Officer of NWA.

Then more aircraft plots were recorded, the best range being 135 miles,
and on the 22nd. a Ventura was located 50 miles out showing distress IFF,
and apparently having difficulty in finding bearings and calculating courses.
The necessary information was passed to the Operations Room at the OBU
from where contact with the aircraft would have put it on track.

The most important visitor for the month was W/CAr Stielow, the Commanding
Officer of ADHQ, who made an inspection of the station on the 6th.

The complement of the staticon was now 26 men.

July 1945.

Again this month several aircraft plots were recorded - Douglas - Anson

— Ventura - with the best range being 111 miles.

and for the first time despite reports that it had been in voque for some
time, 321's interest in cricket is recorded. The'unit's team was defeated
for the first time in the current season by 4 runs, the successful opponent
being the GBU Signals team - but nevertheless, the 321 team remained equal
top with 42 Squadron in the local cricket competition.

August 1945.

More aircraft plots recorded for this month - cne at 138 miles — but the
principal entry for August 1945, as at all radar stations, records the
official announcement of Peace - VJ Day. 321 went 'Off Air' for 2 days,
and a concert was presented by F/0 Harry Dearth and Party.

Towards the end of the month, F/0 Eddy and a salvage party arrived on their
way to Wessel Island, their stay continuing for 4 days before transport
became available.

September 1945.
Five days later the salvage party returned from Wessel, and on the 15th.

F/0 Milvain tock over as C.0. of 321.
And very appropriately for 321 Yirrkala, the Diary ends with the ncte:

"A church service at the YMCA Hut, (OBU) by Rev. Kolinio Saukuru.”

R
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PERSONNEL.
321 RADAR,..... The Airmen posted to 'Form' the station,

B/C D.A. Dakes Commanding Officer.
LAC A.W.Collips Fitter D.M.T.

AC1 M.G.Allen kadar Mechanic
AC1 K.G.Bird "
AC1 K.Helland "
AC1 F.W.Koochew "
AC1 D.C.Watts "

AC1 S.H.Swift Telegraphist
AC1T L.J.Tually "

Cpl G.F.Turton Clerk Stores
LAC L.W.Rogers Cook

LAC E.H.Jasper Nursing Crderly
Cpl H.Davies dircrafthand

cpl H.W.Smith "
AC1 W.Agnew "
W

AC1 A.W.Barnes "
AC1 H.E.Barnett "
AC1 R.T.Cotterill "
AC1 H.D.Cranston "
AC1 R.A,Gosper "
AC1 W.G.Groves "
AC1 C,H.Hardefelt "
AC1 T.H.Jobson "
AC1 R.A.Mason "

AC1 C.W.Moran "
LAC A.McCluskey "
AC1 R.PF.McKeon "
ACl1 E.K.Price "
AC1 L.Rowe "
AC1 A.0 . White "

LAC R.L.Crawley Messman
LAC F.J.Moran "

AC1 S.A.Audrousseau Tr. Radar Operator
AC1 J.B.Browne "
AC1 B.P.Coe "
AC1 G.R.Dixon "
AC1 K.H.Gowers "
AC1 M.H.Harms "
AC! D.C.James "
AC1T M.B.Mercowvith "
AC1 T.L.S5tratford "
ACT A.E.Westman "

{Two of those posted to 321 were not able to stay
with the station but returned to Darwin.)
i EF R LR ET
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PERSONNEL _OF

321

RAD AR.

This list of personnel who followed the 'Originzls’ has been compiled from
various sources - the AS0 Diary - memories - photos etc., and while all
care has been taken, the list must be considered 'incomplete.!

Commanding Officers.

P/O
F/0

D.A.Cakes Apl. 1943.
D. Grahame June 1943.

F/It G.B.Frost Nov. 1943.
F/It G.F.J.Bogue May 1944.

P/O
F/0
F/0
F/0

A.D.Banks Aug. 1944.
G.D.Mills Jan. 1945,
K.S.While June 1945.
H.Milvain Sept.1945,

Radar Mechanics.

LAC
cpl
LAC
LAC
LAC

LAC
F/Sgt Carter

LAC

Wright
Cakley
Gill
Martin
Stark
Taylor

FErOz

Peterson

F/Sgt Harnath

Radar Operators.

AT
A

FEREEESREEERREER

Dixon G.R.
Barnes J.K.
McGregor
Cornish W.G.
Carriss F.
Ashburn A.
Brewster A.W.
Hebden K.
Fitzpatrick M.H.
Tochey A.J.
Andrews F.J.
Bown
Muir A.
Whitfeld J.
Counsell W.M.
ILeckie L.
Schmidt

George

Alan Pier

ACt

Cox L.

W/T Operators.

LAC Smith J,

LAC Souter F.W.

LAC Folkard D.A.

LAC  Leach

LAC  Grant

ILAC  Huddleston

LAC  Michelson

LAC  Morgan

LAC Halls R.

LAC  Bruhn

ILAC  Hull

AC1 Hinton J.uJ.

AC1 Greer W.R.

Mess Staff.

LAC  Trenwith {Ass.)

LAC Whelan "

Cpl Dowling J.D.  (Cook)

Ccpl  Duff J.C.

LAC Rogers L.W. [(Cock}

AC1  Hambly D.T. (Ass.)
Various Musterings.

LAC Bye AW, Clerk.

Cpl Cribb H. "

LAC McReynclds A.R.  Fitter DMT.
LAC Todhunter "
LAC Rowe F. "
Cpl  Sidwell M.O.

Sgt ord C. "

Cpl  Alderton "

IAC Ganzer Fitter DMT.
LAC  Ferguson Clerk

(Continued on next page.)
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Mustering not known.

Ted Jones

Ken Nixon
Allan Wadmore
Kevin Kaufline
Kevin Lynch
Alan Muir
Laurie Schnookal
Jack Bland
Ossie Reidy
Frank Walton
Greg Arnold
Dotg James
Keith Gower
Fred Souter
Jack Seymour
LAC Denning
LAC Dakin

Cpl Gyton

Cpl Ward D.J.
LAC Bole A.J.
Cpl Goss R.W.
LAC McKnoulty
5gt Ring

Cpl Alderton
LAC Unger

Cpl Fraser

LAC Dempsey
LAC Fogarty
LAC Daly M.M.
ACY French G.H.
LAC Griffith A.
LAC Steiger H.
LAC Sisson H.L.
LAC Boswarrick
LaC Amey C.C.
LAC Baldock W.A.
CPL Flood H.H.

AC1 Adams R.J.
AC1 Barke R.J.
K. Cotter
L. Mathieson
B. Mergan
B. Martin

PERSONNEL, OF 321 RADAR. {(Coatinued.)

Security Guards.

Sgt Hill

F/S8gt. Burley

Cpl Cheese

LAC Glancy M.
LAC Lowrey V.
Cpl Wright T,
LAC Crowe J.
LAC Willington w.
LAZ Evans E.J.
LAC Rowe ALR.
LAC Stapleton J.
LAC Tamont J,
LAC Fischer H.
Cpl Harding W.G.
LAC Burgin E.
LAC Caldwell L.
LAC Clinton J.B.
LAC Cocper R.
LAC Ecclestone E.
Lac Keenan J.
LAC Thomwas A.
LAC Fanning E.
LAC Lobley.

Cpl Hickey J.B.
LAC Spriggs C.
Sgt lake J.H.

BHAGRREHERHHERH
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lAbove)
On the beach at Yiankala, VI Day, August 15th, 1945.
Standing....Lou Schmidt: Max Counselfl: John Whitfeld: Ken Geonrge:
Ted Jones: Ken Nixon: Jack Wadmone: Keuvin Kauffine:
Kevin Lynch: Doug Folkard.

Kneeling....Fred Rowe: Afan Piex: Afan Mudn: "Whishy": Laurdie Schnookal.

{Below)
Doug Fofkard: Frank Waltom: 'Cssde’ Reddy and Afan Staxk.
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321 RADAR YIRRKALA. Mexv Hanmas,
{From his pensonaf Diany notes)

The 321 Radar unit first formed in Sydney at Mascot Airpent with P/ P.
Oakes as the Commanding O0fficex. This was in June 1943, The axea used
at the airpori was whene the multi-storey car park row stands.

The pensonnel wene graduafly posted im Zo the unit - the Radar Opetatons,
of which 1 was one, came directly from the training base at Richmond RAAF
Station. We were housed in tents and {ron huts, but during those eanly
days several of us sfept at the Aix Force House in Sydney and travelffed
£o Mascot each morning on the old frams.

On 6th. June 1943, the unit equipment |then some & fonsl was moved by train
from Sydney via Mefbourne and Adefaide to Terowie, and them on to Afice
Springs by the ofd narrow gauge train, From Abice Springs we became pant
of a noad convoy to Lanrimah, then on to Adefgide River and fo 44 RDF Wing
at Danwin, arriving there on 17th, June.

To this time, we operafons had not seen a radan sef, and we were somewhat
at a Loss o know what eventually our duties were to be, The reason for
this was the ROF equipment as it was then, and its operation,wene both

on the highly secnet Eisf, Whife at 44 Wing we were given general duties
Auch as guand dufy and some Mess fatigues, Uarwin {tseff, and the Fenton
Adrx Base were nadded quite a 4ew fimes during cur stay ai Wing.

On 2Znd. Juldy 1943, all unit pensonnef excepting the guards were moved

by ain to Mifingimbi. Then on 25th. Jufy we embarked on a smaff RAN trnoop-
ship, the SOUTHERN CROSS - and headed east. A baxge was fowed by the ship
to be used when unfoading supplies at Vintkafa, Some part of the journey
was smooth saifing, but there wene afso nough seas encountered when the
hawsen attached fo the bange snapped during one night. By some pretty
eleven seamanship, the barge was Located and the fow was faken up again.
Then whife passing through the Wessel Ialands, the ship struck a reed and
afmost capaized, but forfunatefy no damage was done. Several of our conting-
ent were veny seqsick - one man Lost both his uppen and fowen dentunes
whife 'feeding the {ishes,' and he had to exist toothfess fon many months,

We arrived at Vinnkala om 27th., Jufy and we wene met by the Missionen Mr.
Rupeat Kentish, and our welcome was very much the reverse of condiaf.

Mr. Kentish had no {dea that a RAAF statior was {o be esfablished next

to his Misaion which had originally been established in 1934, Oux temporary
headquarters wene established haff a mife infand, and no campsite ox building
pans wene carried by any membexr of the RAAF party. ALE of cux basic

camp equipment such qs the tents and kitchen equipment was then moved from
the beach by each man carrying as much as possibfe on each trdp in fo the
camp site. Then oun cook {inat directed the buifding of an oven on the

sdde of an ewbankment, and this then atfowed him to bake some §resh bread,
and this provided us with a breah from the Axmy rations and hard biscuits,
And additionally we bought fresh vegetables from the misaion natives which
added o the Anmy rations and were a big i{mprovement. Then somehow we
acquired q wallaby and had {resh meat fon a change, for only basic supplies
and equipment had been carnied on the SOUTHERN CROSS, and these wene all
moved Zo the campsite by hand.

On 7th. August, a merchant ship, the ALAGNA and the convette, HMAS LATROBE
anchored offshore, and the equipment {rom the ALAGNA was ferried ashore by
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barge fowed in by the ship's Lighten, The twelve montha' suppfies and

the ROF Doovexr equipment wene Landed on the beach, and we aqirmen had to
wade out to the barge beyond the sutf Line and carry the stores and equipment
in Zo the beach. The suppfies and mateniafs were then moved on to a
secluded Aite where afl was out of sdight,and a water pipe from a nearby
freshunter creek was connected to the camp-site fo save us carrying all

our water by bucket brigade to the camp. The RAAF had incfuded in the
equipment a hand cart, and if took about eight men to tow it when foaded

to the camp-site adince we did noi have a jeep ok any moton vehicfe. This
was pretty heavy work as naturafly we fLoaded as much as possibfe on to
each Load.

There were severaf cases of diannhea and fever among the men duning the
unfoading period, but the ungent work of clearing the Auppfies from the
beach and the Missdion area continued as quickfy as possibfe. On 1af. August
fwo Ain Fonce surveyors wafked into the camp-siie much te the surprise

of the airmen, They had surveyed a site for the new 'Gove' airatnip, and
about this time afso, the RAN WESTRALIA fanded a RAAF construction unit,
the § MYS, in Mefuvifle Bay, west of the 32] site. The construction of

the Gove adnstrip and {ts buildings and noads then stanted.

Somehow, a 5 tom Ford truck was dudiven through from Mefvilfe Bay Lo our
camp 1o assist with fhe transfer of the Dooven equipment to the highest
point of fand near our camp-site. The attempt was notl successful due fo
the steepness of the point of fand and afso the soft gravel s0.if which

had to be traversed., A feep was then sent as replfacement and this completed
the Doover transfer, and also the Last of the Atoaes and equipment from

the Mission area and beach.

About this time, the SOUTHERN CROSS again visited the Mission area, and

ene airman was taken back to Mifingimbi because ¢f the fever he had contracted,
By 18th. August, the beach was compfetefy cfeared, even though some {fems

auch as drums of petrol and buifding timber wene dumped ovexr The sides

of the ALAGNA and allowed teo wash ashore. Much of this equipment had been
scattered along the beach for a considerable distance. Anofhex problfem

was the ondginaf walea pump which was not astrong enough, and s0 a neplacement
wu; :enthout Lo the camp which then allowed waten to be pumped to the showers
and kitchen.

The Doover was operational on 20th. August, and the basic camp, buifdings,
showens, Mess and Ordenfy Room wene compfeted. Doug James and I were the
Opernators on the {irnal shift at 321. The {finst maif was neceived on the
28th. Septemben, the finsl since feaving 44 ROF Wing, and the finst in
Zen Long weeks. So the aoutine fon 321 ROF sdation was established and
then continued on a regufar basis. Oven the next few weehs, we had many
RAAF and RAN visitons fo the unil, and particufanly 1 remember the mobife
dental unit to check alf personnel, some of whom had to endune the thrilff
of thein pedaf operated drill.

Severaf othex events siand oul sLLEE in my memony....the shooting of a
Large snake affer our guand spoited it nean the Doover and hiffed it with

a couple of shots from his Tommy gun. Knowing that the Abonigines enfoyed
this as a deficacy, the snake was Laken fo the camp and placed in the incin-
eraton. As it cooked, it was found fo have inside i1 another smafler snake,
and in that one was a rat, Obviousty the smatfen snake had won the argumeni
when the nat was discovered.
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Another memorgbfe incident was the sight cf an ofd Aboniging going through
our camp area on 'wafkabout' felfowed by his many wives and cﬂikdaen.

They would nefurn days fatexr.

A visit by a mebile picture show unit afso was most enjoyable, particularfy
sdnce we Anvited the Abonigines, and especiadly the children to see the
show. This was something the Abondigines had neven seen befone, and it
was a pleasure 2o see thein emjoyment, not to menfion the amazed Looks

on thein faces.

S0 agter I had beer with 371 fon some five months, 1 was posted to 319
at Fendon, and on 21st. Novemben 1 Left Yixtkada to §Ly back frem Gove
10 44 ROF Headguarfenas.

THREE 'ORIGINALS' OF 371 RADAR.

{Above] Merv Haams 'On the Road'
Lo Dawwin. The truck appears to be
an Intexnationat T8 Moded,

lAbove right} ‘'Doc’ Jasper, the
Medicaf Ondenty...a responsible job
on a Lonely radar unit.

{Right} Gecrge Dixon, one of the
f<1at nadar operatons.
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|Aboue }

One of the rencwned 321
Crdicket Teams....an
indistinct photo but the
onfy one! Max Counsefl
at the exineme fedt,
Afan Stark is the 'heepex,
and the C.0. Keith Whife
{5 at the exineme night.

{Above Right)

Doug James and Merv Harms,
the f§4inst operatons to go
'on sh{f2' at 371.

|Lower Right}

Kedith Gowen and Doug James.




EARLY DAYS OF 321. Max Allen.

I don't remember much about the trip north, but at Alice Springs on 1tth,
June '43 we slept on the ground and froze overnight..and no one could ever
forget the Army road convoy to Larrimah which took the next three days.

The road was unmade - rough and dusty - and dust seeped through any small
gap in the canvas covers of the trucks. It took a while to realise that

it was best to leave the front and back of the truck open to let the air and
dust blow straight through. However, that didn't help much other than the
first vehicle. We seemed to drive through a continuous cloud of dust so
that many men finished up with reddish dust-covered faces out of which
blinked a pair of red eyes.

The train trip from Larrimah to Adelside River was also a bit of a shock.
The 'personnel carriages' were cattle trucks, but anyone calling them cattle
trucks copped some abuse from the NCO in charge. Gaps between the floor
boards opened snd closed as the Floor twisted with the motion of the train.
However, it was far preferable to the dusty trip by road from Alice Springs.
At 44 RDF Wing I learnt that if you didn't like drill, it was s good idea to
volunteer for hygiene duties. I became an expert at burning out pit toilets
(made with half 44 gallon drums on top) and cleaning out grease traps. 1
found this preferable to the 'bull' parades and it stood me in good stead
for the whole of my service in the RAAF. Self-defence training was the
exception I didn't resent, but thank goodness we never had to use it.

I can no longer recall the sequence of events ror the name of the ship

(I think the SOUTHERN CROSS) which transported the gear from Darwin to
Milingimbi. 1 do remember the vessel going backwards against the incoming
tide between Melville lsland and Cape Don, so 1 presume 1 must have been
on the ship. I was shocked at the state of the Aborigines whe hung around
our tents looking for cigarette butts or anything else. [ can also recall
unloading bombs from a ship onto a lighter for the very good reason that

I hurt my back in the process.

For the run from Milingimbi to Yirrkala (25th. to 27th. July)the vessel was
camouflaged with branches ete. so that it looked like an islet when at
anchor. I only remember one alarming incident en route and that was in
the evening when we were entering the base of the Wessel Archipelago. 1
was sitting on one of the several toilets below deck and up forward when
there was a grinding sound and & sudden lurch to starboard. I've never
got off so quickly, and the only comment from the bridge was...."That's
navigating for you - we hit that one last time!" Then we anchored for

the night.

I certainly remember the very cool reception the Missionary, Mr. Kentish
gave us on arrival. He soon began to lay down the law on what was "out

of bounds.” He was married to an attractive part Aboriginal woman who
moved to Brisbane not long afterwards.

Unloading and setting up camp in the early days at 321 was hard work, partic-
ularly carrying stores from the beach to the camp site. And again 1 hurt my
back, probably because there was a bit of rivalry about how much we could
each carry. But spirits were high.

Moving the Ford 10 motors and alternators was a major exercise and they

were manhandled by a team of men., Afterwards the Fords gave us a lot of
trouble as they needed continual fiddling to keep the alternator frequency
within the necessary tolerance.

1 shared a tent with Doug Watts, Kevin Bird and Kevin Holland the other
Radar Mechanics, and we got on well together. Doug was a tsll strong lad
from the Gippsland and good with an axe, 1 alsa came from a country town —
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Murray Bridge - and I was used to axe work so we seemed to land a lot of the
axe work in felling trees for bush structures. A sort of log cabin—cum store
was the most impressive and later earned the station the nickname of 321
Orderly Room Unit amongst the men. We didn't like being broken up by postings
and 1 often wonder what happened to my tent-mates. I alsc remember P/0

Daryl Dakes as a good and thoughtful OfFficer., I think he was a school

teacher who came from a dairy farm in Central Victoria. I met him again

on North Goulburn Island at 309 RS and in P.N.G.

Our food was reasonable and an antbed baking oven gave us bread. 1 think our
cook was 3 good manager. We heard of one cook from Wessel who went 'troppo'
and was taken off the island. Apparently he had used up all the more attrac-
tive supplies guickly and was left with no option but to feed bully beef in
varicus forms and could'nt stand the grumbling from the men. At 321 we

had turtle egg and bacon pie occasionally when a swap could be done with

the Aborigines via the Mission, and kangaroo sometimes came on the menu

the same way.

The sea provided our best recreation and we had a trail through the bush

and mangroves east of the camp to a beach which was beyond the Mission 'out

of bounds' area. Some of us made 5 pronged fencing wire fish spears copying
the Aboriginal methods, but we had no hope of matching their skills. We got
an occasional parrot fish or a ray but nothing else. Some were more success-
ful with rifles which stunned the fish if they were reassonably close,

I remember watching Aborigines standing with spear poised watching fish
passing their observation point until the right one appeared. The spear
almost invariably went in just behind the head. I often picked up the
knobbly rock which cutcropped on land and in the sea and wondered what

it was. I later graduated in Geology and now know it was lateritic bauxite
and could kick myself for not carrying some south. Gove bauxite mine is

now nearby.

Boxing gloves were amongst the recreation equipment supplied to the station,
but I soon learnt that boxing wasn't my sport. Kevin Bird took great delight
in rat-tatting my nose,

Ore of the first questions asked of Mr. Kentish was whether he ever had
trouble with any of the Aborigines, His slow response went something like
this...."No-0-0-o. [ had to krnock one out last week but he tried to hit

me over the head with an axe!" That wasn't the only time he impressed,

for on another occasion twoe of the Buards went onto an 'Abariginal beach’
which was 'out of bounds,' so Mr, Kentish frog-marched them up to the C.0.
and told him he had thrown their guns into the sea. I understand he was

the brother of the Mr. Kentish who had been taken by a Japanese float-plane
pilat and later beheaded.

Not long after we had set up our camp, an Aborigine with a fishing spear

was persuaded (bribed I think) to demonstrate his skill. He drove the

spear points clean through a eucalyptus sapling several inches in diameter
and from a considerable distance. Impressive! The sapling had to be

cut to retrieve the spear. On another occasion an elderly Aborigine Fashioned
a beautifully sculptured spear point by flaking it from a broken beer bottle
and then offered it for barter. Mr. Kentish certainly would not have approved
and there were no takers.

We saw the Aborigines as a happy lot but there were quarrels when an attrac-
tive young Aboriginal woman went bush with the wrong man {she had a nickname
amongst the airmen.) Tribal punishment followed after their return some
days later. The Aborigines sometimes sang in the evenings in the trees

up from the beach and it was here I first heard the fascinating sounds

of corroboree singing.
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321 came 'On Air' in August, and we were proud of the ranges achieved on

the LW/AW.  Some of the Operators had guite good voices and sang the latest
hits to keep on the alert, particularly at night as they wound the handle

to rotate the platform. The words and tunes still return with a little
prompting. Many times we tracked Catalinas and saw disabled aircraft limp
over the station as they returned to base. There was jubilationeach time

a ’'rat'was down. And 321 was a harmonious and happy camp. But it was
September - a long time - befecre our first mail arrived. When it did
arrive, there was excitement and relief in the camp, and we all retreated

to our tents and bunks to read of home, our families and our friends.
Thankfully, our later mails became more frequent.

Particularly in the early days of the station, flies and diarrhea caused
real problems, and few escaped dysentery. Tropical ulcers, some originating
from sandfly bites also occurred. We sometimes retreated under our mosquito
nets to eat in our tents and soc escespe the flies which were always a pest,
and seemed to always descend in clouds when food was about.

BEBHAERG RS
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A FEW YIRRKALA TDENTITIES.......

|Clochwise from Tepl....

John Whitfeld and Kevin Lynch,
Meru Hanms - an 'Ondiginal.’
Alan Stank inviting frouble!
Doug James,..this dnapshot shows the dense scaub easiward of the camp.
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YIRREALA IN 1944. Wal Cornish.

It was July 1944 vwhen I arrived at 321 Radar Yirrkala, and the thing that
struck me most about the unit was the strict discipline that existed there.
A parade in full kit was carried out by the Commanding Officer each week -
respirators, rifles, tin hats....we had to be in the best of order. Tent
inspections were also the order of the day with the C.0. and guard Sergeant
doing that honor. There was also a meeting held each week in the Officers'
Mess where the guard Sergeant ate with him. This was the only time we
were allowed in the place, and that was to give us jobs to be done for

the week. My principal job was to keep up to date a whole lot of Instruc-
tions from RAAF Headguarters such as necessary modifications to Catalinas,
which I certainly did not understand - nor did anyone else I'm sure. I had
to make amendments to about a dozen of these instruction booklets while

on duty at night when we wexe not actually operating or picking up tracks
on the Doover.

I can't remember the name of that C.0. - I think he was from W.A. and from
memory he was a fair bit older than most of us, in his middle or late thirties
It is hard to estimate the age of someone who could have been 10 to 20

years senior when you are only a teenager yourself, and in those days in
service life when you were 19, you felt intimidated by an officer who appeared
mich older. All this was a big change after 161 radar where Bill Smith

the corporal operator gave most of the orders. The point of all this is

that when our C.0. was posted away from 321, our new C.0Q, arvived one day

on the back of our supply truck. I was standing outside the kitchen when
the truck pulled up with him on top of the supplies.

“Where's the Orderly Room tent, mate?" and I told him. He was minus his
shirt, so I didn't know who he was or what rank. Later we all found out

the new C.0 had arrived. He wasn't a bad sort of chap though, but discipline
went by the board from the time of his arrival. So much so that the meals
deteriorated so badly that we couldn't eat any of it.

Our solution was to call a meeting without the C.0. knowing, and we requested
the Medical Officer from the OBU at Gove to came out to the camp for an
inspection, so that he could fix up the slackness in the cockhouse.

However, considering all things, I felt very happy out at Yirrkala and
Gove and 1 enjoyed my stay. My main concern and thought was that the
Doover was not in a very good position, or else it was not always in good
working order. We always had trouble locating and tracking the incaming
plane from Darwin each week, even though we knew the time when it should
appear. The best we could do in that direction was about twenty miles.
Sometimes when Temperature Inversion was in evidence, we could pick up
planes about 120 miles north, but this was not too often,

There is not much more I can recall about Yirrkala, Morrie, but I know
it will all come back to me when I read your booklet about the place!

FHEHHRHHEARURREY
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JOTTINGS FROM YIRRKALA. Mr. A .D.Banks,
(C.0. Aug. '44 to Jan.'45)

After about six weeks as Radar Tech. Officer at 312 Wessel, I was posted
te 321 Yirrkala. I travelled down from Cape Wessel to Melville Bay on a
trawler sized motor launch...the AMARYILIS,..thence overland to Gove and
Yirrkala. I bave no recollection of my quarters, the camp or the station.
The only airman I can recall is Keith Ring, who I think was the Tech. Sgt
in charge of the Doover. Before the war he had been a radic ham and was
so capable with the technical equipment that for many months 321 operated
without any unscheduled time off the air. He came from South Australia,
I seem to recall that the station had a Jeep for transport while I was
there, for I do recall helping to tip it on its side to unwind some wire—
netting which it had picked up and had wound around the tailshaft while
the Jeep was being driven along the beach.

There was a small island several hundred yards east of the beach, and on
one occasion I saw a number of black objects forming a line and moving
towards the beach. These turned out to be native c¢hildren paddling more
or less upright and making their way back after a visit to the islanrd.

On posting from 321, I was a passenger on a 13 Squadron Ventura patrol

bomber from the Gove airstrip back to Darwin. This aircraft was making
a mercy flight with an injured airman from the OBU at Gove whose elbow

had been fractured in a motor vehicle accident.,..then I was on my way

to Peron Island.

My memories of my stay at 321 are much clearer in relation to the Mission
adjoining our station, This was a Methodist Mission under the control

of the Revd. Kolinio Saukuru. Kol was a big Fijian, a Bachelor of Arts,
and a very striking gentleman. He lived in a cottage which was elevated

on stumps, and it had a wide verandah. Many were the stories circulated
about Kol. One related how he could lift a drum of fuel unaided from the
grourd to the back of a truck. AaAnother was when fighting broke out between
visiting Caledon Bay Bay natives and the locals. Kol stood on his verandah
with a .22 rifle and shot several of the native dogs. The feuding stopped
abruptly. Every Sunday night Kol was invited to join us in our Mess.
Afterwards he would hold a Church service in the airmens' Mess or the Rec.
Hut...(I can't remember which)....and it was customary for the Protestant
personnel to try to swap shifts with the Catholic men so that they could
attend Kol's service.

T now recall that during the fighting with the Caledon Bay natives, one

of the Aboriginal women received a deep spear wound to the breast. I

recall that our Medical Orderly was asked to treat it, and it then seemed

to heal much more quickly than one would have expected.

I'm sorry that I am so vagque about 321, but I'd be glad to comment on anything
I can recall if you can jog my memory...it was 50 years ago!

BHHREARERRRERTA NN
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A MW ROLE FOR 321 RADAR. George Mills, (C.0. Dec.'44 to May '45.)

I was posted to 321 Radar while serving on 312 RS Wessel Island.

On 20th. December 1944 Flying Officer R.D.Hill arrived on Wessel by RAAF
vessel AS 03-12 to take over duties as Officer in Charge, and I departed
for 321 RS the next morning on board the same vessel, not doubting that
the main purpose of F/0 Hill's appointment to 312 RS was to close down
the station an Wessel, Of course, at the time I knew nothing of any
plans for 308 RS at Milingimbi or 309 RS on North Goulburn Island.

On arrival at Gove, I found it was business as usual for the men at 39

Zone Filter Centre which had re-located from Milingimbi to Gove in Bugust
1944, although, in the absence of any official advice at that stage, they
mst have been puzzled by the rumours and stories of possible station
movements that abounded. Since September 1944, 39 ZFC had been given
Administrative Control of the four Radars in its zome. Gererally, they
exercised this responsibility well in that all Radars were in a good opera-—
tional condition and well stocked with rations and fuel to weather the
imminent wet season. However, they probably carried their control to
excessive lengths when it came to compiling a composite Zone Operations
Record Bock, amd the Operations Records of the individual Radar Stations

in the period August 1944 to January 1945 were destroyed. So the important
results of many "Guards versus The Rest" Cricket Matches were lost forever,
not to mention station operaticns and activities.

A Signal from No. 1 Fighter Wing on 16th. January 1945 ordered stations

Nos. 308, 309 and 312 "to cease functioning forthwith" and to move to Sydney
as scon as they could be withdrawn. On 18th. January North West Area
advised the formation of Air Defence Headquarters {ADHQ) Darwih and ordered
the disbandment of 39 ZFC. So on 21st. January all personnel of 321 RS
were posted officially to ADHQ, Darwin, and on 22nd. January 321 RS, without
missing a beat, camenced reporting to ADHQ as the only radar installation
in Bast Arphem Land.

The conclusion of the story of the withdrawal of the radar stations is
worth telling. The Signal of 16th. January to the three radars seems to
have been interpreted as requiring the packing of technical equipment for
consignment with the personnel to Sydney. However, a further signal on
24th. January clarified the situation. The radar equipment was to be con-
signed to 5 RIMJ. The W/T, power generators, vehicles, office equipment
etc. were to be consigned to ADHQ Darwin, Only 'Test Equipment' was to
accompany personnel. So, the three units would proceed to Sydney to reform
taking only their test equipment comprising a miltimeter, a megameter and
a prismatic compass! Perhaps this was some sort of legal manceuvre so
that each unit could be supplied with new equipment while retaining its
original murber and records.

On 26th. Jamuary 1945, 312 RS arrived at Melville Bay by RAAF vessel AS 03-12
and barge, and on 31st January F/0 Hill and 23 time-expired and very
experienced men flew out from Gove bound for Sydney. Most of us learned
many years later that Nos. 308, 309 and 312 Radar Staticns landed at Tarakan,
Borneo in May 1945.

No. 321 Radar was now an isclated station 400 miles east of Darwin — a
distance far too great for fighters, controlled from Darwin, to be alerted
or scrambled. However, the last Japanese intruder over the Gove area had
been detected on 8th. May 1944 when two Boomerangs of 83 Squadron were
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'Scrambled, ' but failed to intercept the fast, high-flying plane. The
Boomerangs of 83 Squadron were withdrawn from Gove in Septewber 1944,

Gove was a very well developed and equipped base administered by No. 56
Operaticnal Base Unit. Two squadrons continued to operate from the Gove —
Melville Bay area after the Boomerangs left....No. 13 Sguadron was eguipped
with Venturas and 42 Squadron flew Catalina flying boats. In addition
there was considerable air traffic between Darwin and the east coast and
north to Morotai and beyond. So while there was very little possibility
of enemy activity, the function of 321 RS was to maintain surveillance

of all aircraft flying over the Gove area.

Normally, any reports of commnication, navigational and mechanical diffi-
culties with aircraft would be received and acted upon by the appropriate
controlling Filter Centre. But now 321 Radar Station would, in many cases,
be asked directly to provide details of the positions of aircraft and last
sightings. 1Twe incidents occurred shortly after 321 RS came under the
conhitrol of ADHQ in Darwin:

On 27th. January 1945 when a 13 Squadron Ventura was reported missing on

a local exercise, 321 RS was asked for sightings of the plane. The station
was able to report that the last plot had placed it fifteen miles north

of the airstrip, off Bremer Island. The plane had indeed crashed into

the sea shortly after the sighting. Subseguently a Catalina located three
survivors who had reached the shore in a rubber dinghy and who were taken
off by a crash launch. Tragically, one of the survivors died of injuries
a few days later.

And on 8th. April 1945, Gove strip was closed due to extremely
poor visihility caused by a dust haze which enveloped much of Northern
and Central Australia. Fortunately no air traffic entered the Gove area,
otherwise local emergency assistance may have been found wanting.
Indeed, at this time, consideration was being given to relocating 321 RS
to Drimmie Head or Mount Saunders - both north of the Yirrkala site, to
improve coverage to the west and south-west. The transfer did not proceed
when the end of hostilities became imminent. '

I eventually was posted from 321 at the end of May 1945.
HEREREA RN RN AR




YIRRKALA....A NOSTALGIC TRIP BACK. Lynden Carter.

My first thoughts on reading your latter were that it would be quite a
challenge to put together my memories of over 50 years age. But I did return
to Yirrkala some years ago now on a 'nostalgia trip,' and the overwhelming
impression then was how completely all traces of 321 radar station and

of the Mission itself had been blotted out. Even the house where the
Missionary, the Revd. Kolinic Saukuru lived with his family, although
still standing, I found I did not recognize it. I was able to have a few
brief words with the senior Elder of the Aboriginal community - a tall,
impressive person with a shock of white hair, and he remembered the radar
station because he had worked there as a helper in the kitchen, mainly
washing dishes. We had employed two or three helpers fram the Mission

to work around the camp on the odd jobs. We tried to keep them away from
the Doover because they would 'borrow' any tocls lying around to make their
spears and weapons.

We all found the Mission natives a friendly lot, but they were occasionally
harassed by neighbouring tribes who togk exception to the Mission. I can
remember being invited to a corrcboree one Saturday and not understanding
very much of what was going on, and the dancers being elaborately daubed
and decorated with feathers and ochre paint. The next morning being Sunday
they turned up for the church service at the Mission, washed and cleaned
up ready to sing hymns instead of the tribal chants. I never did figure
out how they reconciled for themselves the two seemingly opposite cultures.
Cne incident that made me think - well, maybe their culture was not so
much 'primitive' but rather 'different' was when on ane day, I decided

to go for a swim. This was not particularly popular as the oppressive
heat ruined the few hundred yards walk through the scrub to the beach.

We seldam wore anything other than shorts and boots, and this day I had
even discarded the shorts.

Halfway through the scrub T was suddenly confronted by an Aborigine neatly
dressed in hat, shirt, shorts and shoes. He politely addressed me with
"Good Morning, Sir!"™ I mumbled something in reply and hurried on scmewhat
dumbfonnded and speechless!

On page 66 of the Radar Pictorial I is shown the truck which was our lifeline
to the outside world, other than the water tanker which brought us fresh
water at irregular intervals. I drove that truck many times down to the
Gove strip to receive treatment for tropical ears and ulcers from the OBU
Medical Officer. We had a Medical Orderly on the station who was extremely
competent but couldn't manage everything. I remewber ope time he was called
upon to officiate at an initiation ceremony by relieving the candidate

of his foreskin - such was his reputation as a 'medicine man.'

(Legt! Lynden Canfen enjoying a barbecue
"back at Gove.' In 1945 Lynden
had enjoyed quite a reputation
as a shilful cocktalil mixer af
the many 21at. binthday parties.
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{Aboue] Abordiginaf youngsters
in the Yinxkafa creeh - thein
homes can be seen on the beach
beyend.

[Right} A group of the focal
young Abordigines at the Missdion. &

PhotoA: John Whitfefd
and Laundie Leckie.

lAbove] Many of the Aboniﬁinal
famifies Lived on the beach -
a adimple windbreak served as
home .

|Right] Young fads with a
good example of a Local canoe -
obviously months of work.
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STIRRING UP MEMORIES OF 321.

Extracts from the Diary of Max Counsell, 1945.

I left Darwin by Douglas on 6th. May 1945....the smooth trip of 450 miles
over the brownish-red, mystericus and remote Arnhem Land took 3} hours
before we landed on the Gove strip not too far from 321 Radar. The gear
was the well proven Australian IM/BW, and the station worked in well with
the Control Tower at the Gove strip, giving them edrly warning of our planes
returning fram the north, A&nd we sometimes received credit for locating
off-course planes so that corrected bearings and courses could be passed
to them.

Our Commanding Officer was F/0 Mills who was only 21 years old, very easy
going, and who got on well with the men. There were about 24 personnel

on the unit when I arrived.

I fourd the climate to be very pleasant, and milder than the rest of the
Territory. Our tents were on the side of a hill, and in the evening we
would get fresh breezes blowing in from the sea. The ocean (the Gulf of
Carpentaria) was about a § mile from the camp, and we had to pass through a
thick jungle of vines, pines and mangroves to get to the beach where the
surf was terrific at times.

Twe hundred yards from our camp was the Yirrkala Mission for natives, with
the Reverend Kolinio, a Fijian in charge, Kolinioc was a huge muscled chap
and very strong. He could lift a 44 gallon drum of petrol onto the back of
a truck without any apparent effort. The Mission had about twenty acres
of land fenced and cultivated, and on our unit we had about twelve paw paw
trees growing, so fruit was regalarly on our menu.

56 0.B.U. was about four miles away at the Gove strip where 13 Squadron
was based...Ventura medium bambers which carried ocut convoy escort. work
and ran a courier service to Morotai. Fifteen miles to the north was
Melville Bay where 42 Squadron with its Catalinas was based.

Recreational activities were very good at 321. Because the war was moving to
an end I think we were kept busy and were often entertained to cvercome
boredom. We had a magnificent swimming beach, and we built our own badminton
court so that we could play at night....we also put down an antbed cricket
pitch, and bridge and poker were played every day. My tent-mate Ken George
had been a Melbourne District cricketer, and he was dead keen on the game,
coaching us when we entered the Gove Cricket Association with other teams
from 0.B. Signals, 13 Squadron (all air crew), 56 O.B.U. and 42 Squadron.

321 enjoyed a lot of success, but there was a lot of shift swapping to

get the best team on the field. The wicket was matting pegged out on the
alrstrip, and we always had a long-stop for the ball would go for 6 byes

if the keeper missed the ball! Sometimes when the game was at an interesting
stage the siren on the tower would sound as a signal that a plane was coming
in to land. We would have to pull up the pegs, remove the matting then

relay the matting again after the plane had landed. Generally drinks were
taken when this happened, and the good old Salves suppiied us with lemen
squash. '

On Sunday nights the Missioner would invite three from cur upit to play
bridge, and his invitations were keenly sought as his wife always turned

on a good supper. Our own food and Messing arrangements were very good

too, with tropical fruits and vegetables supplementing our rations which
were supplied from 56 0.B.U. Aand apart from bites from centipedes, spiders,
wasps, sand-flies and mosquitces there were no health problems. We outran
the snakes!
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In May we heard on the radio the very good news that Peace had been signed
in Europe, and a Thanksgiving service was held at the 0.B.U. by a Methodist
Padre and the Reverend Kolinio. Towards the end of the month we also heard
over the B.B.C. a descripticon of the England versus the Australian Services
Cricket Team....Australia won the first Test by six wickets. On the last
day of May F/0 vhile replaced F/0 Mills as Commanding Officer, and a few
days later the C.0. of A.D.H.Q., 'Black Jack' Walker came out from Darwin
to inspect the RAAF units. A full dress parade was called at 321, and

this proved a bit of a disaster. Rifles were cleaned for the first time

in months, and during the parade somebody yelled out "Gas."  After much
hesitation, fumbling arcund and blank locks, we realised that we were expected
to remove our gas masks from their packs and place over ocur faces.

Well, you'd never seen anything remotely like it! Out with the gas masks
came packs of cards, tooth brushes, cakes of soap, spider webs and the

odd cockroach or two. We were all severely chastised for our laxity.

We were fortunate at 321 in that a picture show was 'on' most nights at

the 0.B.U., and the shows were reqularly changed, Same of the more memorable
films noted were “Laura" starring Dana Andrews and Gene Tierney;

"Going My Way" with Bing Crosby and Barry Fitzgerald; "The Life of Irene
and Vernon Castle"starring Fred Astaire and Ginger Rogers and "Two Girls
and a Sailor" with Van Johnson, June Allyson, Gloria de Haven, 'Snoz' Durante,
Lena Horne, Jose Uturbi, Gracie Allen, and Harry James and Xavier Cougart's
Orchestra. They were films worth seeing!

With the war soon to end, we indeed had a busy social programme. Besides
the pictures and the cricket competition there were swimning parties, card
evenings and tent parties. Finally on 15th. August we heard that the war
was finally over and apart from sounding the air raid siren, the boys took
it very quietly. The station just closed down for two days, Our rifies,
amminition and grenades had been taken and locked away just in case somebody
got carried away with it all, but our celebrations were confined to a great
picnic meeting down on the beach, then after tea we went to the picture
show site to see a concert put on by Harry Dearth's RAAF Concert Party.

The news of Peace brought out the best in the entertainers and the audience
alike, and it was a great show. After returning to camp we all drew our
beer ration of three bottles each and we had a party in the Mess...and
Boy!! What a party! Sang songs, patriotiec, clean and otherwise. The party
went to 0300 hours but I can't remewber much after midnight.

Like most of the camp, I slept all next day. No meals for 24 hours as
nobody felt like food, and the cock and his staff didn't appear anyway.

Ken and I went to Alan Stark's 21st. Birthday party on the st September...
I was still on the "water wagon,' but I had to put Ken to bed after the
celebrations. Then it was Alan Pier's birthday on the 12th.,and Nick Carter
mixed us some of his 'sledge hammer' cocktails. Phew! An explosive drop!
Then it was Wick Carter's birthday whing-ding on 23rd....this was the day
13 Squadron left Gove for Morctai., And finally on 28th. September there
was a beaut concert put on by an Army Unit..."The Tasmapiacs.” This show
travelled throughout the North West Area to units big and small...I heard
the show even visited radar units out on islands, and really earned a great
name for their show. Anyway, so ended a very busy social month during
which a new C.0. arrived - F/0 Milvain who turned out to be a nice bloke.
And Ken and I were posted away to spend a bit more time at a LORAN Station.
But 321 Radar had been a good place to be when the war ended.

R
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SOME TADED MEMORIES -- 321 RS. by 162465 LAC John Whitfeld.

My §ixsd Taip in a plane wad in an Avroe Anson from Darwin

te Gove to become a tadar operator at 327 RS Cape Axnrhenm.

As my previous posting had been 209 RS, manned mainfy by
membenrs of the WAAAF, and sdituated at Benowa on the banks

of the Nerang River at Suxfers Paradise, my introduction te
£ife at 321 was a bit of a culiure shock,

However, it was a verny happy and {riendy unit, and one soon
developed a feefing of befonging e a group with a punpose,
although I must admit I was a £ittfe unsure at times, of whene
I was and what (£ was aff about.

I nemember cur camp and the track up Lo the Poover. The track
was infested with fange spiders and venomous snakes which
caused some anxiety - especiafly at might. 1t was veary hot in
Lthe LW/AW and tuxning it by hand added to the discomfort.
Watching friendfy bfips was not exactly exciting, but there
was afways an expectancy that one day an enemy plane would

be detected by 'my scaeen.!

I nememben the wondeaful sunfing beach nearby, and {is track
through a dense fungfe §ainge with green thee snakes nustling
overhead, and pheasants and scrub turkeys in the undexgrowth.
I think oun standard costume when going Awimming was a towef
wrapped around the waist.

And T nemembesr the cricket at the Gove stadip; and being intro-
duced by some Victorians to a strange game called Auasthalian
Rufes...those oo are pleasant memoxies.

I can vividly necafl the Aborigdines at the Vinnkala Missian,
and thein camp on the beach near the fagoon. This was my
fir4t contact with Aboniginal pecpfe, and afthough their Engfish
was fimited, communicatien was never a problem. They infroduced
me fo gresh, warm goats’' milk - waflaby boifed in a kexosene
Lin; beautifuf partot {ish cooked in ashes in the sand. They
tried to feach me how to spear f§ish, and how a canoe can be
made from a Leg. 1Tn neturn they Liked %o try {dshing with

my hand-fine and hoock which te them was a novelty.

I sememben when the war ended, and we had a big pariy with

our ration of iwo hot botifes of beer, and pfaying a sftange
game caffed Cardinal Puff. 1§ you made a mistake, cone had

to daink anothex been!

Eventually 13 Squadron of Venturnas and 47 Squadron of Catalinas
moved on, but before the Catalinas Left they fook us for a
tfight and showed us their A{r to Suxface radax. This was

a highfight, and on take-off, if too many were down the back,

a horn would sound and we woufd alf rush forwand te the cockpif.

After 50 plus years, memoxies and names fend fo dfade. 1 have
to confess 1 have no recolfection of how 1 Ledt Gove tfo netuin
to Paxwin... but I'm cenrtain 1T didn't wafhk!

LA RN NN YT
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YIRREALA '45 and '91 Alan Stark.

During the war I kept a Diary...mostly on personal issues...to remember
people and the more important perscnal events. The war was drawing to

a close and actually finished while I was stationed at 321, but in July

1991 I revisited Gove (Nhulunbuy) and of course went back to the unit site
at Yirrkala.

Because we were not extremely busy operationally, we had time for sport

and from time to time played played cricket in a competition between the
various units on the peninsula. But I thought it was very unkind of Max
Counsell to comment in his contribution to RADAR YARNS that it was necessary
to have a long-stop behind the 'keeper in case he missed the ball because
it meant 4 byes....I was the wicket keeper!!

But it was true indeed....the Gove strip was a very difficult cricket ground.

Cricket Results.
My results show the following results of cricket matches.....ecesves

30th. June 1945 321 RS V 56 OBU Win to 321 - 73 to 52

ath. July 321 RS V 13 5gn Win to 321 - 103 to 55

7th. July 321 RS V 56 OBU Win to 321 — 105 to 29 & 8273
10th. July Match cancelled — 13 Sgn on Operations.

15th. July 321 RS V OB Sigs Win to Sigs=- 47 to 45

21st. July 32t RE V 56 OBU  Win to OBU-124 to 81

28th. July 32 RS V Sigs Win to 321-9/88 to 63

4th. July 321 RS V OBO B/Q Win to 321- 8/136 to 35 and 36
12th. Aug. 321 RS V 42 Sqn  Win to 42 Sqn-8/150 to 69
25th. Aug. 321 RS V Sigs Win to 321-107 to 41

2nd. Sept. 321 RS V 42 S Win to 42 Sgn - 102 to 50
5th. Sept. 321 RS V 42 Sgn  Win to 42 Sqn-76 to 31,

The statistics show we didn't do too badly, but 42 Squadron seemed to
have cur measure.

YIRREALA,

Whatever happened to the pecple from 321 and Yirrkala?

We all would remember Burramarra, the head man in the team of Aborigines
who worked on the station - and Roy Marika who mostly worked in the kitchen
and had his 'dead meat tickets' around his neck inscribed "Cpl ROY-YIRRKALA
MISSION."

During my trip back in 1991 I tracked them down.

Burramarra was ill and living on Elcho Island when I was in Gove in '91,
but I wrote to him through Ian McIntosh who was writing Burramarra's biog-
raphy {published in 1994 as "The Whale and the Cross"). Through Ian I
received a response from Burramarra who remembered me as NGUNHA, but his
mem ory was failing.

His name 'David’® was given him by a missionary, the Revd. Wale, after King
David.

Burramarra became very active politically and in the cause of equality

for 'black and white.' He was awarded an MBE in 1978 for his services

to Aboriginal people. Instead of going to Darwin to receive his honour,
he asked that it be presented to him at Elcho Island, Sir Zelman Cowan
and other dignitaries acceded to his request and proceeded to Elcho where
he was invested among his pecple.

I remember Burramarra as a very strong personality and individual with a
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strong dislike of liquor. One evening in my tent, and about to share a
'brew' of Horlicks with Fred Rowe (Fitter DMT) and me, Fred accidentally
breathed a 'liquor' breath on Burramarra who reacted very strongly. Aud
he always said he would visit the capital cities of Australia, and he did,
even making contact with the Prime Minister of the day when on his visits,
One of his objectives was to stop the mining at Gove.

Apart from coastal surveillance during the war, Burramarra was a businessman.
He managed his own work-force which he hired out; he became a pearl diver
and was the first Aborigine to own a typewriter which he used to run a
small private typing and correspondence business.

Burramarra died in 1994,

Roy Marika.

I remember Roy doing much to help around the camp-site, and he often tock
me fishing. However, when he went after fish with his spear, I had to
stay out of the water because 'the fish will see you.'

Roy also had progressed in Aboriginal Affairs, and I believe in '91 was
Chairman of a Land Council. When I met him at Yirrkala in July 1991 he
was not in the best of health, but he talked about the 321 Radar and asked
if we had always called him 'Roy.' 1 reminded him of his 'dead meat tickets.
Roy's son, Witijana (Philip) Marika, together with Mandaway Yunupingu,
formed the band YOTHU YIMDI. Philip, with his daughter Sabrina, was with
Roy when I caught up with him at Yirrkala.

Roy died about 12 months after I saw him, and he was given what one might
call the equivalent of a State Funeral.

My 21st. Birthday.

With the war now over and the station starting to pack up, I turned 21 on
Ist. September 1945. At a tent party that night, the C.0. Keith While,
Jack Seymour and Nick Carter supplied the drinks and there was guite a
mixture. There were toasts to everyone, and while I was proposing a toast
to our 'Chinese Allies,' a 'cocktail' was mixed in my glass. I'm still

not sure what it was, but on the table was sherry, muscat, whisky and beer.
Whatever it was it can best be described as mighty strong stuff. All went
well until I lay down in my tent at 0100 hours - then the tent and I took
off, circled the camp and the Missicn and then deposited me in a heap on
the tent floor.

On the morning of Sunday 2nd., I was on duty at 0800 hours but was late
and the routine checks reguired by Control were very haphazard. Aall I
wanted was a drink of water because my mouth was so dry....but after a

good drink from the water bottle, I wasn't feeling too good again.

We plaved cricket on the strip that afternoon, and running around in boots
on the tarmmac seemed to run all the after-effects out of me.

The traditional 21st. key of those times was signed by all, and I can still
decipher most of the signatures of those present:- Max Counsell, Keith
While, Nick Carter, Lou Schnockal, Loa Schmidt, John (Snow) Whitfeld, Ken
George, Alan Pier, Kevin (Blue) Lynch, K Soutter, D. Denning, Greg Arnold,
Ken Nixon, Revin Kaufline, K. Cotter, L. Mathieson, B. Mergan, Doug Folkard,
and Bruce Martin.

Other Recollections.

Snakes sometimes were among us on 321. One was killed in the rafters of

the Orderly Room in May 1945 and in July when our truck ran out of petrol
returning from the pictures, 'Snow' Whitfeld and I walked back to the camp
with the Aborigines but had to kill a copperhead on the path. My notes

do not reveal the name of the hero.

In aircraft movements there was nothing very exciting, but in March a Ventura
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pancaked on landing after a tyre blew out after taking off in Darwin. No
one was injured fortunately.

And in April, dust blew over from Queensland. All planes were grounded
for two days, on the 9th. and the 10th. Then cn June 22nd. a Ventura

was lost during our evening watch — 321 located the plane and it landed
safely. The pilot phoned through to say “Thank you on behalf of the crew."
His gesture was appreciated and made our jch .seem really worthwhile.

Jack (Nimrod) Bland was a real open-air type and often went shooting in
the 'jungle' strip between the tents and Shady Beach. He was also a keen
fisherman, and with 'Sncw' and I, he showed us how one day in May. Wimrod
and 'Snow' did well while I scored nil, but nevertheless was allowed to
enjoy their fish next morning for breakfast.

Parties seemed to be the 'go' in August and September. The concert and
party compered by Harry Dearth on 15th. August to celebrate Victory was

a beauty. The party went on and on and some of the boys were not locking
too good on the morning of the 16th.

Alan Pier celebrated with a party on the 12th. September, and once more
there were 'cocktails' of great potency mixed. Again there were same pretty
sore heads the next day....and was it 'Snow' Whitfeld who was not so good
this time? Not to be outdone, Nick Carter had a birthday party on the
23rd September....all in all, my memories are pleasant of a good unit -

321 at Yirrkala.

On 27th. October I left Gove with Lou Schmidt and travelled with him in
the bombardier's nose pogition of a Liberator all the way to Darwin,

(T i

§ pilly'

Alan Statk at Gove on 25-7-791. Next fo Alan stands Roy Marika, who
wonked at 321 camp - then Charlie Moff who hefped Afan fo {ind Roy -
Lhen Philip, Roy's 5th. son who i a memben of YOTHU VINDI band, and
who {5 hofding his daughten Sabrina.
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321 VIRRKALA (CLOSES POWN. Laurie lechie.

I annived at Gove on Saturday afferncon, &th. Octobex, togeihen with 76
other RAAF types of various musferings and units. OQur Catafina Landed

at Melville Bay, and we found that 321 was approximately 25 mifes from

the Catalina base. A truck took us over a veny bumpy noad o the radax
camp down afong the coast, traveflfing via the RAAF atnip which was 3 mifes
from our Doovex.

The 321 Doover and camp were only a few hundied yards §rom the Yinnkala
Methodist Mission which had been set up about 10 years earfier on the shores
of a pleasant bay. The Missionary was the Revd. Kofinio Saukury, Living
inene with his wife and three childien. There wene thiee to four hundred
Abordigines £iving round the Mission in a scattened way . ..those &iving on the
Mission seemed good fypes and for the most part Sspoke good English. The
Mission had a noomy 'open' church buift of Pocaf materiads, with the sandy
ffoon acting as scats.

The Doover was the noxmal LW/AW, well camouffaged amongst the irees with
only the annay visibfe above the tree fops. The Ops. hoom was onfy about

70 yards fnom the Dooven and was a composite xoom approximately 1§' x 20
and contained the Mechanics' workshop, the W/T hut and the Operatons’
plotting noom. The walfs were welf adorned with the wsual congfomeration

of charls, station ondens etc., but also with a goodly assontment of alluring
formal We afso had a spare W/T sef in the noom which provided some musicafl
bachground on news broadeasts,

The entextainment at 371 fon the fads was good...there wene buridge groups,
tabfe-tennis, tennis and crioket oven at the RAAF Atnip, and {ifms twice
each week at the base.

On Thunsday, 11th. October a asignal was necedived..."Unil will cease operations
and move to Darwin as soon as suitablfe transport can be ankanged. Date o4
cedsalion will be advised - expected to be in approximately 2 weeks." At
this Ltime there wene onfy 17 men fedt on the unif.

On 152h. Qctober anothen signal was neceived officiatly closing 321 RS....
then we were busy fon the mext 12 days dismantling the Doover - packing

afl the gear and getifing it fo the gneighten at the Cafalina base in Meluiffe
Bay. Everything was finally on its way by Z7th, Ociobern. So I had 2 prediy
shord stay at 301 - just 21 days - bui I can recall g few incidents whife
packing:-

We wene Poading a fridge or to a fruck - we pushed it on with such vigon
that it caused the truck fo rokf fonwards about 20 yanda before ore of
us could jump on board and apply the brakes!

We spent a good 10 minutes nailing down a £id on a particufarly heavy box -
we had just Lifted the box cfear of the ground when the botfom feff out
of it Leaving us holding an empty box!

On the frack to the bay, the Foaded fruck somehew nan into quite a sizeablfe
gum tree...down came the free...afso about a dozen green ants nests! Thoae
of us on the fruck had fo climb down through the baanches fighting off
those very annoyed and vicious green antal

On another occasion we had taken great care whife packing one crate -
onty to see Lt dumped with a mighty crash into the hofd of the fredighten!

We caught twe native hefpens hefping themseluves to some fools out of
the Ops noom fust after a funch break. They feft in a hurny, but fegt
behind a woomena and a good spear. We fater successfulfy negotiated
a swap to gei oun foofs back!
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Puring one necreational break in the dismantling and packing work, four of

us and a young Aboriginaf fad took cne of their canoes ouf for a paddfe. One
of us stood up - Los?l bafance - and went over the side. Whife we wene

trying to puld him back on board, a wave caught us and alf five of us {inished
up 4in the drink, bools and aff. MNeedfess Lo say the natives on shore thought
our effonts a wondenful foke....but we survived.

We had the opportunify to wafch one of the Aboriginal ceremonies when three
of thein young fads were circumeised. 1t developed into a greail coanohoree
with the natives dancing and yelling {fike men possessed. The women were
equally worked up whife dancing round and bashing their heads with sharp
pointed sticks, crying hystenicafly with genuine tears of anguish as theia
young Aons were made men.

On one of the Sundays, sevenal of us attended a church service in the native
chunch, when suddenfy an Abondgine grom @ visiting tribe stanted yelling

and brandishing his spear about 40 yaads away. He then made a dash fox

the chunch and hurfed his spear through the open sdide.

ALE heff bnohe Egose - the womer in the congtegation went in allf directions -
some evenr weni through the {8imsy bark waffs,

The offender was appatrentfy welf satisfded with the end nesult ef his efforts
and just disappeared!?

I had brought a smalf {lying possum with me grom Bathurst - he traveffed
moat of the way in my shirt pocket, but 1 afso carndied a amall cage for
him. As a baby, he had faffen out of a tree the TIWI fofk had cut down

fo get some honey and I was on hand Zo rescue him from the dinner pof.

He went by the name of 'Whiskers' faten changed to just 'Geonge' and became
a very akfectionafe pet. He prefeaned fuxunies Like condensed mifk, moths,
spdders and paw-paw pipa! T eventually Took him home with me fo Sydney -
in Mefbounne en the way home he went ice shating |in my pocket}. George
Lived with us as a delightful petf for aboutl another fen years.

The focd by then waa quite good....T've noted even gresh Apinach! Alse
Paw Paws were avaifable which were very welfcome after previous diets.

e wexe abfe to do a bit of {ishing - nothing special - the coastal scenery
was really very pleasant with sandy beaches, smalf rocky headfands and

a couple of smalf isfands off the coast. Mostl importantly the maif with
parcels and home communications arrived regufanfy.

On 27th. October Geonge and 71 {few back to Panwin in a Liberaton, thence
southward bound affer a further week in a staging camp. 1 sent a tefegram:
"Kifl the fatied calf....feaving by treop train temonrow!"

WHARAAARRARR R
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Additional taxiways had appeared on earlier sketchplans

but were not carried out. The sketch that follows shows the probable

layout of the OBU and associated buildings. Note the name 'Rooney' which

appears as C.0. of the 61 Works Wing, after whom the main road fram

the Mission to Melville Bay was named.

The maps are reduced in size and not to scale.
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Gove Airstrip, 1945.
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Peter Callaghan, George Mills and RAAF Historical Section, Canberra, kindly
supplied a variety of maps of the relevant Gove Area. From these, three
have been selected as showing the 321 area to best illustrate the story.
Copies of any maps can be requested from the editor.

The sketch on p.51 shows something of the size of Yirrkala today
LEESEE S s 2]
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GOVE PENINSULA TODAY.

Huge bauxite deposiis wene discovered on Gove {n 1952, and depite the area
being an Aboriginal Resenve and tribal country, the Australimn Government
granted mining ndighis Lo NABALCO, and the bauxite royafties have given
distinct financial benefits to the Local communities,

A beautiful new fown was buift -NHULUNBLY - "heside the hiff" in the focal
Gumatf diafect - and the town, Large enough fo accommodate up fo 4000 people,
was sited around ME. Saunders where in 1945 it was suggested that 371 be
sited. YIRRKALA afso is now an Aboriginal township with the usuaf amenities,
but afl traces of 321 have disappeared. The YIRRKALA School and carpark

now occupy the ofd camp adfe - but some traces of the ofd Gove stadp axe
ALLEE An evidence.

At feas® fwo 321 men have tre-visifed the ofd aite - Alan Stark and Lynden
Catten,who were saddened to find only a few of thein ofd Pocal {riends

4tiEE glive., However, they were able to repont that a Local Aboriginal
music gnoup has brought world wide fame to themsefves, to their unique

music and songs, and to YIRRKALA. The group 48 welf hmown as YOTHU VINDT.

A few photos offer a glimpse of YIRRKALA and GOVE as they appear Zoday.
HEAHERBRBENR R
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YIRRKALA TOWNSHIP.

321 wartime camp side.



AT GOVE IN 1995.

{Right] The 371 camp aite,
whick now appears to be the
patking area for the

Yinnkala School.

The three fower photos
wene Laken at the sdite
of the war-Lime Gove
sfndp, whexe 83 Sgn
and 13 Sqn were based.
The aircraft shefis dre
04 a Beaufort and a

Photos from

Benney Adams
Wwho appeats in

the photos.
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TERRITARY

At GOVE, 400 miles east of Darwin, NABALCO PTY,

LIMITED is building a permanent fully air-
conditioned township that will accomrmodate over 6,000

people and service the fargest fully automated electronic
Alumina Plant in Australia. Living and working conditions
are excellent and the climate is superb — even the
fishermen don't believe what they catch.

INTERESTED?

WE NEED
INSTRUMENT FITTERS FITTERS:

THE JO8: Yo commission, nervica sna Fapan elaL-
teonla [ fon an

utert up and shut down equipment. Tha apporiumy
L il o gain i L] dawn

v theaatos e o pencriat e FITTER-TURNERS

#xlsta dor mos ign laval.

POWER STATION WELDERS
OPERATORS

WIFH WELFING EXFERIENCE

THE J08: Wa raquice pawer station unit and sasis- .

Am unit operators for our plant to comral ihe Aper I..:LIEB_S‘ HEAVY EARTH-MOVING
atiom of Bollwr Turbo Altemater sotz. The turbines EQUIPMENT IEXP WiTH CATERPILLARS

are of gondensing and back-prassime pasa out de. PREFERAED]

sign. Training will be provided.

APPHEATI%\lS NOW v
NABALCO PYY. LIMITED

GOLD FIELDS HOUSE
SYDNEY COVE, N.S.W, 2000
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